102560-2

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/16/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 84310-9

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AMINA J. CONDEL,

Respondent,

v.

FRANK GARRETT CONDEL,

Petitioner.

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

C. Nelson Berry WSBA No. 8851 Attorney for Petitioner

Berry & Beckett, P.L.L.P. 1708 Bellevue Avenue Seattle, Washington 98122 (206) 441-5444

##

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Garrett Condel petitions this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decisions terminating review designated in Part B.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISIONS

A copy of Division I's Unpublished Opinion filed on July 31, 2003, is in the Appendix at A-5.1

A copy of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration And Motion to Publish, filed on September 5, 2023, is in the Appendix at A-27.

A copy of the Order Denying Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling Awarding Attorney Fees, entered on October 16, 2023, is in the Appendix at A-28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Petitioner asks this Court to review his oral argument, available online at: https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate\_trial\_courts/ Then go to Court of Appeals, Division I Oral Arguments: TVW Coverage (Regular Docket) #4 on June 14 Condel.

#### Introduction.

For too long the scourge of domestic violence was ignored by our courts.

In their efforts to redress their prior omissions, the pendulum has now swung too far.

In their single-minded zeal to protect alleged victims of domestic violence and to punish their accused perpetrators, our courts are disregarding constitutionally protected fundamental liberty interests, ignoring legislative mandates, and refusing to adhere to established case law.

In their myopic and misguided belief that they are protecting victims of domestic violence, our courts are destroying families by taking children away from good fathers multiple times every day for reasons which defy common sense.

It is **not** hyperbole to recognize that our judiciary has become biased against fathers

#### accused of domestic violence.2

This case is emblematic.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1) Does a court abuse its discretion when it fails/refuses to rule on a motion?
- 2) When reviewing a denial of a motion for revision, is the appellate court bound by the record created by the decision of the revision court?
- 3) Is the DVPO court required to apply the "strict scrutiny" test on the record to justify entering a protection order which interferes with a parent's fundamental liberty interest?
- 4) Is the DVPO court required to consider the "best interests of the child" on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A party claiming bias "must support the claim with evidence of the trial court's actual or potential bias." *Bus. Servs. of Am. II, Inc. v. WaferTech LLC*, 159 Wn. App. 591, 600, 245 P.3d 257 (2011), *aff d*, 174 Wn.2d 304, 274 P.3d 1025 (2012). This Petition identifies that evidence. "The test to determine whether a judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned is an objective one that 'assumes that a reasonable person knows and understands all the relevant facts.' "*Sherman v. State*, 128 Wn.2d 164, 205-206, 905 P.2d 355 (1995).

record to justify entering a protection order which interferes with a parent's fundamental liberty interest?

5) Did the Court abuse its discretion by awarding the full amount of requested reconstructed attorney fees based on a repealed statute and solely on fee declarations?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Amina J. Condel ("Amina") and Frank G. Condel ("Garrett")<sup>3</sup> have four children.

Garrett was with each of them almost every day from the moment each was born.

Garret was the parent who attended and participated in all of their activities.

He is the parent who organized family vacations, took them to Y-camps, and helped with homework. CP 286, 294–296.

Garrett taught his children the value of helping

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For ease of consideration, the parties will be referred to by their familiar names. No disrespect is intended.

an elderly infirm neighbor. CP 309, 367-368.

Garrett is the parent who took their autistic daughter to an adaptive horseback riding program every week for more than ten years. CP 315, 370.

Unfortunately, the Condels had a very troubled marriage. CP 249.

In 2017, Amina decided she no longer wanted to be intimate.

Amina and Garret also had fundamental disagreements about parenting.

Amina insisted that their 10 and 13 year old sons sleep with her in the same bed every night since they were born. CP 249–250, 267, 310–311.

Amina insisted their children be homeschooled. Garrett believed their children were falling way behind their peers attending public school and were being deprived of the benefits of socializing with other children.

Amina preferred alternative medicine. She refused to let their children be vaccinated. Garrett preferred traditional medicine.

Amina is a hoarder. CP 259-260, 332-335.

Amina refused counselling or to discuss how she and Garrett might improve their relationship.

CP 251, 256.

Garrett was incapable of changing this situation without obtaining a dissolution and separate living arrangements. CP 250, 302.

#### Statement of Proceedings.

After finally concluding their differences were irreconcilable, Garrett filed a Petition for Dissolution. He delivered those pleadings to Amina the next day (CP 251), together with an email expressing his hope to work together to create a path forward in their children's best interests. CP 321.

After Amina refused to accept service voluntarily, Garrett had to have her formally served. CP 252.

In response, and barely two days before

Garrett was scheduled to go to Hawaii on a vacation
with his two sons (paid for by his employer), Amina
had Garrett served with her Petition for a Domestic
Violence Protection Order. CP 1–9; CP 252.

In her declaration in support of her Petition,
Amina alleged myriad claims of domestic violence.
CP 10–39, 75–229.

Yet out of Amina's litany of accusations,

Commissioner Pro Tem Jessica Martin found only

two isolated, *de minimus* incidents she concluded

constituted domestic violence. Both had occurred

nearly three years earlier. 05/04/2022 RP 9-11.

Neither constituted domestic violence <u>as a</u> matter of law.

On revision, the Honorable Hillary Madsen affirmed the Commissioner's ruling. A-1–A-4.

## E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

This Court should accept review under each of the tests established in RAP 13.4(b) for the following reasons:

# 1. A Court Abuses Its Discretion When It Ignores Motions.

In response to Amina's DVPO Petition, Garrett moved to refer those accusations which the court found "reasonable cause to believe that a child of the parties has suffered abuse or neglect" to CPS for investigation, pursuant to RCW 26.12.170 (A-29), and to defer any findings of domestic violence pending that investigation. CP 230–247, 253.

Both parties moved the Court to do a risk assessment. CP 231–234; 4/20/2022 RP 33, 35.

Commissioner Martin disregarded these

motions altogether. The failure/refusal of the court to exercise discretion was an abuse of discretion.<sup>4</sup>

But according to Division I, by "granting Amina's petition, the court effectively denied Garrett's requests for referrals" and "[T]hat denial was not an abuse of discretion". A-10.

That was error.

It is the responsibility of the appellate court in its supervisory role to ensure that there is an adequate record<sup>5</sup> to enable it to meaningful review the lower court's exercise of discretion.

The Court Commissioner's failure/refusal to even acknowledge these motions is indicative of how accused fathers are typically steamrolled in DVPO

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> StarKist Company v. State, 25 Wn. App. 2d 83, 100, 522 P.3d 594 (2023)("<u>failure to explain rationale</u>"); Marriage of Mishko and Kehr, 23 Wn. App. 2d 571, 578, 519 P.3d 240 (2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Compare, *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 435, 957 P.2d 632 (En Banc 1998).

proceedings.

# 2. Division I Created A False Record Based On Rejected Accusations and Fabrications.

When, as here, "the superior court makes a decision on revision, 'the appeal is from the superior court's decision, not the commissioner's.' "6

Even so, a revision denial constitutes an adoption of the commissioner's decision.<sup>7</sup>

Thus, the decision to be reviewed here was

Judge Madsen's (A-1-A-4) based upon "the records

of the case, and the findings of fact and conclusions

of law" entered by Commissioner Martin.8

Both lower courts found and concluded that out of Amina's myriad accusations <u>only</u> the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> State v. Ramer, 151 Wn.2d 106, 113, 86 P.3d 132 (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Maldonado v. Maldonado, 197 Wn. App. 779, 789, 391 P.3d 546 (2017).

<sup>8</sup> RCW 2.24.050.

two incidents constituted domestic violence.9

When the lower court fails to make an express finding on a material fact, the appellate court will deem that fact to have been found against the party having the burden of proof.<sup>10</sup>

The lower courts thus denied Amina's claims that her other accusations constituted domestic violence.

Mere accusations, without proof, are not sufficient to invoke the restrictions under the statute. [RCW 26.09.191, A-39–A-45].<sup>11</sup>

Amina did not appeal this (lack of) finding. It is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> 05/04/2022 RP 9–11; A-2. In Section 2 of her Order A-3, **not** her findings, Judge Madsen set forth Garrett's arguments to some of Amina's accusations, but did **not** find that her accusations constituted acts of "domestic violence".

<sup>Golberg v. Sanglier, 96 Wn.2d 874, 880, 639 P.2d
1347 (1982); Omni Group, Inc. v. Seattle-First Nat.
Bank, 32 Wn. App. 22, 28, 645 P.2d 727 (1982).</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Caven v. Caven, 136 Wn.2d 800, 809, 966 P.2d 1247 (En Banc 1998).

thus a verity on appeal. 12

When the court below has weighed the evidence, the appellate court's review is <u>limited</u> to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings and, if so, whether those findings in turn support the lower court's conclusions of law and judgment.<sup>13</sup>

It is **not** permitted to make its own findings. 14

It must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence.<sup>15</sup>

Yet, throughout its opinion, Division I made

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Postema v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 142 Wn.2d 68, 100, 11 P.3d 726 (En Banc 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Ridgeview Properties v. Starbuck, 96 Wn.2d 716, 719, 638 P.2d 1231 (En Banc 1982).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> *Matter of Estate of Langeland v. Drown*, 195 Wn. App. 74, 82, 380 P.3d 573 (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Prostov v. State, Dept. of Licensing, 186 Wn. App. 795, 820, 349 P.3d 874 (2015).

findings based upon Amina's rejected accusations<sup>16</sup>, and fabricated what the courts did below.

For example, Division I's assertion (A-19):

But the court's finding was not confined to the July 17 and December 15 incidents. The court clarified that those incidents were "the explicit one[s] the Court discussed during it ruling" and did not state that those were the only incidents supporting its findings",

deliberately misconstrues the record, and constitutes a denial of fundamental due process.<sup>17</sup>

Treating rejected accusations as findings of domestic violence usurped the function of the lower courts and exceeded its authority on review.

It also constitutes a denial of "fundamental

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See e.g., Opinion pp. 1 "After enduring years of abuse...", 2, 3, 10, 11, 11 fn.7, 14–16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 348, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976); Nguyen v. State, Department of Health Medical Quality Assurance Commission, 144 Wn.2d 516, 524–534, 29 P.3d 689 (En Banc 2001).

fairness" because it saddles fathers with unidentified claims they have successfully defended as findings against them, thereby resulting in an erroneous deprivation of their constitutional rights.<sup>18</sup>

"Fundamental fairness" requires judges to be impartial arbiters and to maintain the appearance of fairness. CJC Rules 1.2, 2.2, 2.3.

Division I was not impartial.

3. The Courts Below Abused Their Discretion By Failing/Refusing To Apply The Strict Scrutiny Test.

In *Parentage of C.A.M.A.*, 154 Wn. 2d 52, 57, 109 P.3d 405 (En Banc 2005), this Court held:

We held in *Smith*<sup>19</sup> that "parents have a fundamental right to autonomy in childrearing decisions," *In re Smith*, 137

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Mathews, supra*; *Prostov*, 186 Wn. App. at 810–811.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *In re Custody of Smith* 137 Wn.2d 1, 969 P.2d 21 (1998).

Wash.2d at 13, 969 P.2d 21, and this "liberty" interest is protected as a matter of substantive due process under the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.* at 15, 969 P.2d 21. We held state interference with this interest "is justified **only** if the state can show that it has a compelling interest **and** such interference is narrowly drawn to meet only the compelling state interest involved." *Id.* This is the "strict scrutiny" test.

The courts below did not engage in the "strict scrutiny" required by this two-part test to determine whether entering a protection order interfering with Garrett's fundamental right and liberty interest to parent was justified<sup>20</sup>, and thus abused their discretion.<sup>21</sup>

Amina argued that the court was not "required

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Given the nature and importance of the interest subject to the potentially erroneous deprivation, the required standard of proof should be greater than a mere preponderance. *Addington v. Texas*, 441 U.S. 418, 423, 99 S.Ct. 1804, 60 L.Ed.2d 323 (1979); *Nguyen, supra.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Mayer v. Sto Industries, Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677, 684, 132 P.3d 115 (En Banc 2006).

to conduct a "strict scrutiny" test". Resp. Brief, pp. 55–56. According to Division I (A-21):

Moreover, there was no error in the court not explicitly considering this right; it had no obligation to rehash settled case law when it granted the DVPO.

But surely, when the state seeks to justify interfering with this most fundamental of our constitutionally protected liberty interests, making a record on articulable grounds of how and why the court exercised its discretion in the manner it did, is no less necessary than the record required when the court makes an award of reasonable attorney fees.<sup>22</sup>

It is also the only way to insure that the strict scrutiny test is actually applied.

a. The Two Incidents of Domestic Violence Found By The Courts Below Did Not Create A Compelling State Interest.

Under the strict scrutiny test, the protection

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 433–435.

order court must first determine whether there is a compelling state interest to justify state interference—not just any interest—but a compelling one.

Contrary to the holding by Division I, A-24, neither Smith, 137 Wn.2d at 16, nor Marriage of Stewart, 133 Wn. App. 545, 555, 137 P.3d 25 (2006), hold that "[T]his test is satisfied" whenever "a child has been harmed or that there is a credible threat of harm to the child".

This was error.

Not every "harm" or "threat of harm to the child" creates a *compelling* state interest.

On July 17, 2019, when Amina angrily and abruptly stuck her hand in Garrett's face in a "stop" motion, "with an apparent purpose to strike and sufficiently near to enable the purpose to be carried

into effect" she assaulted him, as a matter of law.23

Garrett instinctively swatted her hand out of his face. The use of such force is not unlawful when used by a person who believes he or she is about to be injured, as Garrett did here, <u>as a matter of law</u>.<sup>24</sup>

Contrary to Division I's fabrication (A-19–A-20), the DVPO court did **not** make a "fact finding" of self-defense, merely by finding the mother more credible. Credibility was not at issue. Self-defense was not addressed by either court.

Similarly, Amina's accusation that on December 15, 2019, Garrett grabbed J.S. by the neck causing only transient pain and minor temporary marks, did not constitute domestic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Brower v. Ackerley, 88 Wn. App. 879, 43 P.2d 1141 (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> RCW 9A.16.020(3).

violence, as a matter of law. 25

Even though it appears that J.S. was grabbed by the back of his neck, Commissioner Martin concluded that Garrett's alleged conduct was not protected by RCW 9A.16.100, based on her speculation, that "[g]rabbing a child's neck would interfere with a child's breathing and is explicitly stated within the statute as per se unreasonable." <sup>26</sup>

But there was **no** allegation—much less, evidence—to support her speculation that J.S.'s breathing had been impacted. CP 25.

On revision, Judge Madsen did not adopt

Commissioner Martin's speculation, but upheld this

domestic violence claim based on her conclusion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> RCW 9A.16.100, A-30; WAC 110-30-0030, A-31-32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> 5/4/2022 RP 10-11.

that "it was not reasonable physical discipline".<sup>27</sup>

Division I's ruling that the "court did not err in concluding that Garrett's actions were *likely* to interfere with J.S.'s breathing, and therefore, not reasonable physical discipline under the statute" (A-17) ignores the undisputed evidence, misstates WAC 110-30-0030 (A-31-A-32), and what the lower courts actually ruled.

The courts thus abused their discretion by substituting their own subjective beliefs as to what constituted "reasonable physical discipline", instead of adhering to the required "statutory standards".<sup>28</sup>

Also, according to Division I (A-17):

In determining whether physical discipline is reasonable, the fact finder should consider the age, size, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP 507–508; A-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> In re Dependency of H.S., 188 Wn. App. 654, 665,
356 P.3d 202 (2015); Ugolini v. Ugolini, 11 Wn. App.
2d 443, 449, 453 P.3d 1027 (2019).

condition of the child, the location of the injury, the nature of the misconduct, and the child's developmental level. RCW 9A.16.100; WAC 110-30-0030.

But the fact finder did not do so here.

In any event, since neither of these two incidents constituted domestic violence <u>as a matter</u> of law, neither created a *compelling* state interest.

In addition, even if these two incidents which occurred three years before the parties even separated could technically be defined as "domestic violence", they were, at most, "isolated *de minimus* incidents", and thus should have been excluded from the court's determination of whether there was a "history of domestic violence".<sup>29</sup>

This limitation is consistent with the requirement that the State's interest must be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> In re Marriage of C.M.C., 87 Wn. App. 84, 88, 940 P.2d 669 (1997).

<u>compelling</u>. Without this limitation the protection order statute does not pass constitutional muster.

Yet, according to Division I (A-21), without any supporting legal authority, the Parenting Act of 1987 "was later amended and is not at issue in the present case".

But this Court has made clear that it does "not overrule ... binding precedent *sub silentio*," <sup>30</sup> and that its decisions are binding on all lower courts. <sup>31</sup>

Relying upon Amina's rejected accusations,

Division I held "the incidents *alleged* here are

certainly not de minimus or isolated." A-21.

But regardless of what had been *alleged*, the two incidents which the courts below actually found

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d 533, 548, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> 1000 Va. Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d
566, 578, 590, 146 P.3d 423 (2006); Peterson v.
Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 17 Wn. App. 2d 208, 222, 485 P.3 388 (2021).

and concluded constituted domestic violence are not domestic violence at all, or are at most, *de minimus* or isolated incidents, and thus did **not** create a *compelling* state interest.

Thus, the Commissioner's finding (merely by checking the box on the DVPO form) that Garrett posed a "credible threat" to his children is not supported by substantial evidence.<sup>32</sup>

If even this first prong of the strict scrutiny test had been properly considered by the courts below, **no** protection order would have been entered.

b. Such Interference Was Not Narrowly Drawn To Meet Only The Compelling State Interest Involved.

Should a father who is currently beating his wife and children be treated the same as a father who instinctively swatted his angry wife's hand out

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Compare, In Re Parentage of T.W.J., 193 Wn. App.
 1, 367 P.3d 607 (2016).

of his face, or who grabbed his son by the back of his neck, three years earlier?

Yet, the remedies are identical in every case:
namely, (1) a protection order for (at least) one year;
(2) supervised residential time—professionally
supervised if the mother will not agree to a lay
supervisor, regardless of cost or necessity; and (3)
compelled participation in state-certified domestic
violence treatment programs lasting a year or
longer.

Just because a DVPO court has the power to impose these remedies does not mean it should, or that they are constitutional <u>as applied</u> in every instance.

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