FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/18/2023 1:25 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 102560-2

COA No. 84310-9

AMINA J. CONDEL,

Respondent,

v.

FRANK G. CONDEL, Appellant,

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KING COUNTY BAR ASSOCIATION Kathleen Francis, WSBA No. 44143 Kimberly Todaro, WSBA No. 30641 1200 5th Avenue, Suite 700 Seattle, Washington 98101 Tel: 206.267.7100 E-mail: katef@kcba.org E-mail: kimt@kcba.org

Attorneys for Respondent Amina Condel

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

On August 21, 2023, Garrett filed a Motion to Publish and a Motion for Reconsideration. The Court of Appeals denied both motions on September 5, 2023.

On September 8, 2023, Garrett filed a Motion to Modify the Commissioner's ruling on the amount of attorney fees granted to Amina. A panel of judges denied Garrett's motion on October 16, 2023, and upheld the commissioner's ruling on fees.

On November 14, 2023, Garrett filed a Petition for Review to this court.

IV. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

8 After argument, Garrett filed a Supplemental Memorandum Clarifying

Responses to Questions Raised During Oral Argument and a related motion for leave to file that memorandum. The Court of Appeals declined to consider Garrett's supplemental briefing. Slip. Op. at 18.

This Court should deny review because (1) Garrett fails to present a significant constitutional question, (2) there is no substantial public interest implicated, and (3) the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with precedent.

The Court of Appeals Did Not Create a False Record⁹ Α.

Contrary to Garrett's assertion, the Court of Appeals did not "create a false record."

A court commissioner's decision is subject to revision by the superior court. RCW 2.24.050. On a motion to revise, the superior court reviews the commissioner's findings of fact and conclusions of law de novo based on the evidence and issues presented to the commissioner. In re Marriage of Moody, 137 Wn.2d 979, 992-93, 976 P.2d 1240 (1999). The findings and orders of the court commissioner that are not successfully revised become the order and findings of the superior court. Maldonado v. Maldonado, 197 Wn. App. 779, 789, 391 P.3d

⁹ Respondent will address this issue first as clarity of the record is critical and this claim is simply not accurate or supported by the record in this case.

546 (2017). A superior court judge's denial of a motion for revision constitutes an adoption of the commissioner's decision and does not require the entry of separate findings and conclusions. *Id.* A commissioner's oral findings that are adopted by the revision court are sufficient for review. *In re Marriage of Williams*, 156 Wn. App. 22, 28, 232 P.3d 537 (2010).

Findings of fact made by the superior court are treated as verities on appeal as long as they are supported by substantial evidence. *Katare v. Katare*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 35, 283 P.3d 546 (2021). A trial court's findings regarding credibility are not reviewable by the appellate court. *Spence v. Kaminski*, 103 Wn. App. 325, 333, 12 P.3d 1030 (2000); *see also*, *In re T.W.J.*, 193 Wn. App. 1,8, 638 P.2d 1276 (1982) ("[I]t is the trial court's role to weigh the persuasiveness of the evidence, and we typically will not disturb factual determinations on appeal." (citation omitted)). The appellate court may "defer to the trier of fact on the persuasiveness of the evidence, witness

credibility, and conflicting testimony." *In re Matter of Knight*, 178 Wn. App. 929, 936, 317 P.3d 1068 (2014). The appellate court will not disturb a superior court's finding of fact if substantial, though conflicting, evidence supports the finding." *Merriman v. Cokeley*, 168 Wn.2d 627, 631, 230 P.3d 162 (2010).

In the absence of a written finding on a particular issue, an appellate court may look to the trial court's oral opinion to determine the basis for the trial court's resolution of the issue.

Matter of Marriage of Booth, 114 Wn.2d 772, 791 P.2d 519 (1990).

Here, Garrett argues that the lower court only found two incidents of domestic violence. Petition for Review at 11.

However, this misrepresents the record below. In fact, after considering all of the evidence submitted by both parties and argument of counsel, the trial court found that Amina had met her burden by a preponderance of the evidence that Garrett had committed domestic violence. 5/4/2022 RP at 9. In its oral

ruling the court highlighted two incidents but specifically did not indicate that these were the only incidents of domestic violence committed by Garrett. The court actually clarified this when Garrett's counsel tried to limit the court's ruling:

MR. BERRY: And again, if I may, Your Honor, just so I'm clear on the incident of domestic violence, the one on July 17th...that's the assault that the court is relying upon?

THE COURT: That is the—that's the explicit one the Court discussed during its ruling, yes."

5/4/2022 RP at 19.

The court went on to find Amina's statements regarding Garrett's domestic violence were credible. *Id*.

In further support of this point, is the fact that the Court also found that Garrett had exposed the children to multiple acts of his violence. 5/4/2022 RP at 10.

The Court of Appeals agreed that the lower court had not limited its findings to only two incidents, finding that "Garrett grossly misinterprets the record. The court merely highlighted these two incidents as examples of bases for the DVPO—it did

not indicate that these were the only incidents of domestic violence." Slip Op. at 11.

The Court of Appeals did not "fabricate" the record below nor did it deny Garrett's fundamental due process rights by relying on the totality of the evidence below as well as the court's findings of credibility. There is no merit to this argument, and this is not a basis for this court to accept review.

B. There Are No Significant Constitutional Questions Under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Garrett challenges the provisions of the DVPO that protect the parties' children. However, Garrett does not establish that a significant constitutional question is involved.

1. Garrett's Constitutional Challenges Defy Long-Standing Precedent Affirming the DVPA is Constitutional

Washington courts have already determined that the

Domestic Violence Prevention Act (DVPA) chapter 26.50

RCW and the protection orders authorized by it do not interfere with the constitutional right to parent one's children.

Garrett argues that the court's entry of the DVPO that limited his contact with his minor children violated his constitutional right to parent. Garrett's contentions regarding his constitutional right to parent are inconsistent with long established case law.

In *In re Custody of Smith*, the court held that "parents have a fundamental right to autonomy in child rearing decisions." 136 Wn.2d 1, 13, 969 P.2d 21 (1998). When a fundamental right is involved, the courts apply the "strict scrutiny" test. Under the "strict scrutiny" test, the State may only interfere with a fundamental liberty interest if the interference is narrowly tailored to meet that compelling interest. Smith, 137 Wn.2d at 15. Washington courts have held that this test is satisfied when the State interferes in a parental relationship in which a child has been harmed or there is a credible threat of harm to the child. *In re Marriage of Stewart*, 133 Wn. App. 545, 555, 137 P.3d 25 (2006), Smith, 137 Wn.2d at 16.

Here, the court found that Garrett represented "a credible threat to the physical safety" of Amina and their children (CP 382), that he exposed the children to his violence (5/4/2022 RP at 10), and that Garrett actually harmed at least one of the children (5/4/2022 RP at 10). Therefore, as the Court of Appeals concluded, "State interference in the form of a DVPO is justified to protect the children and does not violate Garrett's fundamental right to parent his children." Slip. Op. at 17.

Further, the court did not err by not explicitly addressing this right on the record. The lower court is not required to do so when there is settled case law on the issue.

On in making its findings that Garrett represents a credible threat and that he caused harm to the children, do not provide substantial evidence that any of the children were harmed.

Garrett relies on *In re Marriage of C.M.C*, 87 Wn. App. 84, 88, 940 P. 2d 669 (1997). He argues that the incidents the court relied on are "de minimus" and that there is no compelling State

interest where there are only "isolated, de minimus incidents" which "could technically be defined as domestic violence." Petition for Review at 21.

However, in *C.M.C*, the court, in dicta, noted that the commentary to the proposed Parenting Act of 1987 stated that the term "history of domestic violence" was intended to exclude "isolated, de minimus incidents which could technically be defined as domestic violence." 87 Wn. App at 88 (quoting 1987 PROPOSED PARENTING ACT: REPLACING THE CONCEPT OF CHILD CUSTODY: COMMENTARY AND TEXT 29 (undated)). However, the statue that *C.M.C.* refers to (RCW 26.09) was later amended so as to make this commentary by the court moot. Additionally, RCW 26.09 is not the statute at issue in this case.

Further, the incidents of Garrett's domestic violence towards Amina are far from "isolated, de minimus" incidents.

Amina's petition for DVPO and supporting declaration included specific, detailed accounts of Garrett engaging in more

than 20 incidents of physical violence and threats of physical violence towards herself and the children. CP 1-39. In addition, the children were present for many of the incidents that Amina described in her petition including the incident that occurred on July 17, 2019. CP 14-20. Amina attached photos to her petition documenting injuries from almost every incident, either of herself or the children. Sealed CP 36-37, 52-54, 65-66, 70-73, 77-78, 82, 86-87, 91-92. The photos show red marks, bruises, and scratches consistent with Amina's recounting of the incidents. *Id*.

As the Court of Appeals found, the incidents alleged by Amina are "certainly not de minimus or isolated." Slip Op. at 17. In fact, the court held that "the record demonstrates a history of domestic violence spanning several years" and "substantial evidence supports the court's finding that Garrett posed a credible threat to the children." Slip. Op. at 18. As this Court in *Rodriguez v. Zavala* held, "ample evidence supports the view that direct and indirect exposure to domestic violence

is harmful" and "exposure to domestic violence constitutes domestic violence under chapter 26.50 RCW." 188 Wn.2d 586, 598, 398 P.3d 1071 (2017).

2. The Court's Order that Garrett Engage in Domestic Violence Perpetrator Treatment and DV Dads Classes is Consistent with the Constitution

Garrett further argues state-certified domestic violence treatment programs "lack efficacy" and that ordering respondents in protection order cases to engage in such programs is unconstitutional. Petition for Review at 26.

To support this argument, Garrett continues to rely on a 2013 report from the Washington State Institute for Public Policy (WSIPP). Of Garrett's argument is without merit. The Washington state Domestic Violence (DV) Manual for Judges found this report mischaracterized the Domestic Violence Perpetrator Treatment Programs and used generally flawed

¹⁰ M. Miller, Et. Al.. Wash. State Inst. For Pub. Pol'y (WSIPP), *What Works to Reduce Recidivism by Domestic Violence Offenders?* (2013), http://www.wsipp.wa.gov/ReportFile/1119/Wsipp_What-Works-to-Reduce-Recidivism-by-Domestic-Violence-Offenders_Full-Report.pdf.

research methodology. *See*, Gender & Just. Comm'n, Wash.

State. Sup. Ct., Domestic Violence Manual for Judges app. B

(2016) (Appendix B),

http://www.court.wa.gov/content/manuals/domViol/appendixB. pdf. 11

Further, the WAC chapter governing domestic violence treatment programs in Washington state was repealed and replaced by WAC 388-60B in 2018. This is five years after the study Garrett relies on was released. The updated WACs require an initial assessment to determine the "level of risk, needs, and responsivity for the participant" and the "level of treatment the program will require for the participant." WAC 388-60B-0400(2)(a)-(b). The stated purpose of the assessment is to provide "[b]ehaviorally focused individualized treatment

-

¹¹ For example, the DV Manual notes that the studies underlying the 2013 WSIPP report have been "extensively critiqued in multiple peer journals." APPENDIX B at 3 n. 10. The DV Manual also states that WSIPP's conclusions "are not only inaccurate but simply cannot be supported either by the authors own meta-analysis or by a comprehensive review of the literature." APPENDIX B at 3 n. 10.

goals or objectives for an initial treatment plan." WAC 388-60B-0400(2)(c). After the assessment, the program is required to write a summary including its findings, recommendations, and rationale for the level of treatment prescribed. WAC 388-60B-0400(19). As part of this process, assessors are authorized to recommend no domestic violence intervention treatment where appropriate. WAC 388-60B-0400(10) and (19)(f).

The procedures in WAC 388-60B minimize the risk that respondents, like Garrett, would receive treatment that is unnecessary or unhelpful. Therefore, ordering respondents in protection order cases to engage in domestic violence intervention treatment is consistent with the constitution.

3. The Court Left Garrett's Visitation to the Discretion of the Family Law Court

Garrett also argues that limiting respondents' visitation with their children to professionally supervised visitation is a violation of their constitutional right to parent their children.

Under RCW 26.50.060(1)(d), "on the same basis as is provided in chapter 26.09 RCW, the court shall make residential provisions with regard to the minor children of the parties." However, the court is not required to "incorporate the full panoply of procedures and decision factors from the Parenting Act into the protection order proceeding" because that proceeding is intended to be "a rapid and efficient process." *Stewart*, 133 Wn. App. at 552. The court does not need to make formal findings or follow formal proceedings as it would when entering a parenting plan. *Id.* at 553. The court only needs to consider the same factors when making its orders in DVPOs, which are temporary in nature. *Id.* at 553.

Here, Garrett's visitation was not limited to supervised visitation under the DVPO. Garrett is conflating the court's order in the DVPO case with the parties' dissolution case which is not at issue here. In this DVPO case Garrett's visitation under the DVPO was not limited to professionally supervised visitation. Instead, the court specifically left the determination

of Garrett's contact with his children to the discretion of the family court. CP 384; 5/4/2022 RP at 12; 19.

Therefore, Garrett's constitutional challenge regarding professionally supervised visitation is not relevant and fails.

C. There Is No Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Garrett also fails to show a substantial public interest is at issue. "A decision that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower court may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016). A substantial public interest is not present in cases, as in this case, that are limited to specific facts. *Hart v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 111 Wn.2d 445, 451, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988). ¹² A substantial public interest in this case is lacking for several reasons.

¹² In the context of the mootness doctrine, an exception is made for cases involving issues of "continuing and substantial public interest." In assessing whether there is a continuing and substantial public interest, courts consider (1) the public or private nature of the question presented.

First, this appeal is brought under a now repealed statute, chapter 26.50 RCW. Second, the Court of Appeals decision is limited to the specific facts of this case. Third, as explained above, there is no constitutional issue presented here. The Court of Appeals decision makes clear that the lower court's decision was well within the bounds of the constitution. Fourth, the Court of Appeals decision does not invite unnecessary litigation, especially in light of the fact that the statute at issue is no longer in effect. Fifth, the Court of Appeals decision does not create confusion. The Court's thoughtful analysis addressed the fact specific issues presented in this case and reached a conclusion directly in line with long established precedent.

D. There Is No Conflict With Decisions of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(2).

.

⁽²⁾ the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question. *State v. Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d 901, 907, 287 P.3d 584 (2012).

13 Chapter 26.50 RCW was repealed by 2021 ch. 215 § 170, effective July 1, 2022. Its provisions are now confided under Civil Protection Orders, ch. 7.105 RCW.

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